
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 
 

STRATEGIC HOUSING 
BOARD 

 
Councillor D J Mote (Chairman) 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor K J Grehan 

 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 

 
Wednesday 10 July 2019 

 
at 2.00 pm in the Board Room, Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford,  

Kent DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 

 
Managing Director 

2nd July 2019 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

 



 

 
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 

AGENDA 
 

Wednesday 10 July 2019 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms of any Grant(s) of Dispensation by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 
 

 

3. Urgent Items   

4. References from Other Committees   

5. Strategic Housing Board Terms of Reference (Pages 1 - 2)  

 To note the terms of reference for the Strategic Housing Board 
agreed at the Annual Council meeting on 22nd May 2019. 
 

 

6. Dartford's Housing Context   

 This report is ‘to follow’. 
 

 

7. Draft Housing Allocations Policy  - July 2019 (Pages 3 - 32)  

 This report is for information and noting. 
 

 

8. Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-2023 
(Pages 33 - 52) 

 

 This report is for information and noting. 
 

 

 





STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE AGREED AT THE ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING ON  
22 MAY 2019 

 
 

 
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
[REPORTING TO CABINET]  
 
Chairman:  Councillor D J Mote 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor J A Kite 
Membership:  Councillors A D Allen MBE and K J Grehan  
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 
Without prejudice to the roles and responsibilities of the Scrutiny Committee and the Policy 
and Overview Committee:  

 
(1) To review the national housing landscape including but not limited to housing need, 

housing supply, affordability and homelessness (including rough sleeping), and to consider 
how such issues are represented in Dartford. 

 
(2) To consider the local housing profile including but not limited to supply, tenure mix, 

affordability and to make recommendations to Cabinet as to how the Council can achieve 
its strategic objective of facilitating quality, choice and diversity in the housing market and 
assist in meeting housing need in Dartford.  

 
   (3) To be consulted/receive referrals as determined by Cabinet about issues falling within the 

remit of the Board. 
 
(4) Where appropriate, to seek input from Councillors (including Cabinet members), Officers, 

Dartford Borough Tenants’ Forum, other interested stakeholders, organisations, providers, 
developers and charities. 

 
REFERRED FUNCTION: 
 
To recommend accordingly to Cabinet. 
 





STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

CABINET 
25 July 2019 

DRAFT HOUSING ALLOCATIONS’ POLICY JULY 2019 
 

 

1. Summary 
 
1.1. The Housing Allocations’ Policy was adopted by the General Assembly of the 

Council on 18 March 2013 as the Council’s framework for the allocation and 
management of future tenancies from 29 April 2013.  Subsequent reviews of 
the Policy were carried out in March 2014 and September 2018. 
 

1.2. In order to ensure a consistent approach, a further review of the Policy has 
been undertaken and changes made, where appropriate, to reflect new 
legislation and operational methods. 

 
1.3. This report sets out the revisions to the Policy. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. That the Strategic Housing Board note the contents of this report and 
recommend accordingly to Cabinet. 
 

2.2. That Cabinet agree the amendments to the Housing Allocations’ Policy as 
set out in the body of the report and approve the revised Policy, attached 
at Appendix A.  

 

 

3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 The Housing Allocations’ Policy was adopted by the General Assembly of the 
Council on 18 March 2013 as the Council’s framework for the allocation and 
management of future tenancies from 29 April 2013 [Min. No.xx].  Subsequent 
reviews of the Policy were carried out and approved by Cabinet in March 2014 and 
September 2018 [Min.Nos.xxx].  

3.2 All local authorities with responsibility for housing are required by law to produce 

a Housing Allocations’ Policy, which sets out how social housing properties will be 

allocated to eligible applicants in housing need. 

3.3 In order to ensure a consistent approach, a further review of the Policy has been 

undertaken and amendments  made, where appropriate, to reflect operational 

changes (including working practices) following the implementation of the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA 2017).   

3.4 The Policy must adhere to a legal framework outlined in part 6 of the Housing Act 

1996 and the HRA 2017.  The implications of the HRA  2017for homelessness is 

fully detailed in the Homeless and Rough Sleeper Strategy 2019, which will be 

presented to Cabinet at the same time as this report.  

 

  



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

CABINET 
25 July 2019 

3.6. Proposed policy amendments: 

 

a) 3.11. - Homeowners to include any person on the application and only eligible 
if they do not exceed the financial threshold set out in the Council’s Tenancy 
Policy. 
 

b) 4.11. - Suspension from the Housing Register.  Applicants may be suspended 
from the housing register for reasons including, but not limited to: 
 

 Owing debt to the Council or social housing provider that has 
accumulated whilst on the Register 

 A change of circumstances affecting eligibility 

 A request for a review of the suitability of accommodation has been 
made 

 Other discretionary reasons as agreed by the Head of Housing 
 

Applicants will be suspended for a maximum of two years before they are 
removed from the register. 
 

c) 4.12. - Evidence now required for applicants needing to move to Dartford to 

avoid hardship to themselves or others. 

 

d) 4.13. - Local connection may be awarded in exceptional circumstances, to 

council tenants that have lived in the borough for less than two years.  This may 

apply to applicants who are homeless where the Council had a duty to house, 

mutual exchanges into the borough or reciprocal lettings from another authority.  

Although it will only apply to a very small number of case, some tenant’s 

circumstances can change, for example they may have lost family members and 

be under occupying the council property.  In which case it it in the Council’s 

interest to move them to a smaller property to free up a larger family property.  

Other reasons may be that the tenant’s medical circumstances have changed 

and they are in serious need of rehousing in the borough.  

 
e) 4.21. - Scheme accommodation for those aged 55 and over to include whether 

the applicant’s needs can be met by the accommodation. 
 

f) 5.9. – Provides clarification on when one offer only will be made. 

 

g) 5.11. - Inclusion of paragraph on the process of auto bidding on a property. 

 

h) 5.24. Applicants may be offered on line tenancy training to assist in maintaining 

their new tenancy. 

 

i) 6. New section on homeless applicants banding and offers.  Applicants will be 

given reasonable preference but have reduced priority unless they: 

 

 Move on from a range of accommodation where the Council has discharged 

its functions under the HRA 2017 and where this has been identified and 

confirmed in the applicant’s Personalised Housing Plan or; 



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

CABINET 
25 July 2019 

 Where discretion has been given to applicants under the HRA 2017 where 

it has been determined that access to affordable housing is the only/most 

appropriate solution and where applicants are likely to be in priority need.  

  This section also includes information on refusals of an offer of suitable 

accommodation and procedures for appeals against the suitability of the 

accommodation, including for homeless households (see 6.6 – 6.9) 

 

j) Annex 1 Band A - Urgent medical needs now include applicants suffering from 
severe and enduring mental health issues significantly affected by their current 
accommodation. 
 

k) Annex 1 – Band B - To delete ‘Category 1 hazard’ and replace with ‘Property is 

in disrepair, as agreed by the Council’.  This is to ensure that all potential hazards 

are considered, including those that may not fall into category 1. 

 

l) Annex 1 - Band B - Changed to ‘Medium’ medical needs rather than ‘serious’ 

to reflect banding level.  Applicants with a reasonable preference for whom a 

band C medical award applies but where the medical issues are more serious 

in nature but not as high as band A.  Band B medical cases will also apply where 

multiple Band C medical conditions combine to create an overall greater need. 

 

m) Annex 1 Band C - Mental health issues affected by current accommodation 

does not now include ‘severe’ as band C is a low medical need. See (l) above. 

 
n) Annex 2 - Medical and welfare needs is now a separate Annex. 

 

o) Annex 4 – Community Contribution.  Further evidence required to prove 

volunteering status. 

 

p) Annex 4 – Community Contribution. New criteria for armed service personnel 

to include mental health as a disability following government guidance on the 

allocation of accommodation.  Also, persons who have formerly served in the 

armed forces are eligible, where their application is made within ten years of 

discharge, increased from five years. 
 

3.7. The general layout of the Allocations’ Policy 2019 has also been revised 

to ensure ease of reading and transparency.  This means that some 

sections have been moved or incorporated into other sections and 

obvious repetitions removed. 

 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan  
 

  This report relates to the Corporate Plan aim ‘To facilitate quality, choice and 
 diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant communities 
 and deliver high quality services to service users’  

 
 
 
 



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

CABINET 
25 July 2019 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
 assessments 

 
Financial Implications None as a result of this report. 

Legal Implications Councils have a statutory duty to prepare and 
publish a Housing Allocations’ Policy. 
The Policy must adhere to a legal framework 
outlined in part 6 of the 1996 Housing Act and 
the HRA 2017.   

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

Not applicable 

 
7. Appendices 

Appendix A – Draft Housing Allocations’ Policy 2019 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

 Date / 
File Ref 

Report Authors Section 
and 
Directorat
e 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

  N/A  Jackie Pye x3683 Housing 
Services 
Strategic 
(Ext) 

N/A 

 



  Appendix A 

 

 

 

   

DRAFT HOUSING 
ALLOCATIONS’ 
POLICY 
Update July 2019 



 

1 

CONTENTS 

 
Section Title Page Number 

To be added  
 

1. CONTEXT AND POLICY AIMS 

 
1.1. This Allocations’ Policy sets out the criteria and procedures that Dartford 

Borough Council uses to prioritise applicants for housing owned by the Council 
and a proportion of homes owned by our housing association partners in the 
borough. It details how applicants can apply for, and access, social housing and 
sets out how applicants are prioritised on the Council’s housing register. It also 
sets out other assistance that is provided to housing applicants, including advice 
and access to housing in the private rented sector. 
 

1.2. In Dartford, the demand for affordable housing is far greater than the number of 
homes available. This Policy therefore aims to ensure that those in greatest 
housing need and those that make a contribution to the community, are given 
appropriate priority to access available housing.   

 
1.3. The Policy sets out in detail who does and does not qualify and how this is 

decided. The Policy is designed to meet all legal requirements and to support 
and contribute towards the Council’s wider objectives such as promoting mixed 
communities and making efficient use of the housing stock. 

1.4. The key objectives of this Policy are to: 

 Provide a fair and transparent system by which people are prioritised for 
housing. 

 Help those most in need of housing. 

 Promote the development of sustainable mixed communities. 

 Make the best use of affordable housing in the Dartford borough.  

 Make efficient use of our resources and those of our partner housing 
associations. 

 
1.5. Affordable housing in Dartford is allocated through Kent Homechoice which 

allows applicants to view available council and housing association homes. The 
system is supported by a housing solutions approach giving applicants realistic 
advice and promoting other housing options, such as low cost home ownership 
and private sector renting. 
 

 

2. LEGAL CONTEXT 

 
2.1. This Policy sits within a legal framework which is summarised in this section. 

 
2.2. The 1996 Housing Act (as amended) requires local authorities to make all 

allocations and nominations in accordance with an Allocations’ Policy. A 
summary of the Allocations’ Policy must be published and made available free 
of charge to any person who asks for a copy. This document is available on the 



 

2 

Council’s web site at www.dartford.gov.uk/housing and paper/email copies can 
be provided on request. 

 
2.3. The Housing Act 1996, (as amended) requires local authorities to give 

Reasonable Preference (see Annex 2) in their Allocations’ Policies to people 
with high levels of assessed housing need; defined as: 

  

 All homeless people as defined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 
(whether or not the applicant is owed a statutory homeless duty and 
regardless of whether such cases have any local connection with Dartford 
Council). 

 People who are owed a duty under s,189B, s.190 (2), 193 (2) or 195 of 
the Housing Act 1996 (or under s.65 (2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 
1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by any Housing 
Authority under s.192 (3)  

 People occupying insanitary, overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory 
housing. 

 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including 
grounds relating to a disability). 

 People who need to move to Dartford to avoid hardship to themselves 
or others. 

 People serving in the armed forces and suffering from a serious injury, 
illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s 
service. 

 People who have formerly served in the armed forces, where the 
application is made within ten years of discharge. 

 People who have recently ceased, or will cease, to be entitled to reside 
in accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the 
death of that person’s spouse or civil partner who has served in the armed 
forces and whose death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service, 
or 

 People serving or have served in the reserve forces and are suffering 
from a serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or 
partly) to the person’s service. 

 
2.4. The Housing Act 1996 also requires local authorities to state within their 

Allocations’ Policy what its position is on offering applicants a choice of 
housing accommodation, or offering them the opportunity to express 
preference about the housing accommodation to be allocated to them. Our 
policy on choice is described below in Section 5 (Kent Homechoice). 

 
2.5. This Policy complies with the requirements of: 
 

 Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

 Choice Based Lettings Code of Guidance for Housing Authorities 2008 

 Fair and Flexible: Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for 
local authorities in England 2009 

 Localism Act 2011 

 Allocation of Accommodation Code of Guidance 2012 

 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 



 

3 

 Immigration Act 2016 

2.6 The Policy also complies with the following statutory regulations: 
 

 Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483 

 Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264 

 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294 

 Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) 
(England) Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869 

 Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) 
(England) Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989 

 The Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) Order 2012 (as 
amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) 

 The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) 
(England) Regulations 2015 

 The Homeless (Review Procedure etc.) Regulations 2018 

 In formulating the Council’s Allocations’ Policy, we have also had regard 
to the Council’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy 2019, 
Tenancy Strategy and Tenancy Policy.  These can be found at: 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-

documents.  

 
2.7 The Policy is subject to the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 and the 

Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 
(SI 2017/353); and specifically, s.149 which states that the Council has a duty 
to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity, and to 
foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not. The Council has undertaken an Equality 
Impact Assessment and has due regard to the protected characteristics as 
defined in Section 4 of the Equality Act 2010, which are age, race, disability, 
sex, pregnancy and maternity, sexual orientation, religion or belief and 
gender reassignment. 

 

2.8 This Policy has considered: 
 

 The Council’s statutory obligation (strengthened by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017) to provide homelessness services to all eligible 
housing applicants affected by homelessness, not just those who have 
a “priority need”, these include: 

 
(a) An enhanced prevention duty extending the period a household is 

threatened with homelessness from 28 days to 56 days, meaning that 
housing authorities are required to work with people to prevent 
homelessness at an earlier stage (“the prevention duty”); and 

 

(b) A duty for those who are already homeless so that the housing 
authorities will support households for 56 days to relieve their 
homelessness by helping them to secure accommodation (“the relief 
duty”). 
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


 

4 

 The Council’s statutory obligation to carry out an assessment in all 
cases where an eligible applicant is homeless or threatened with 
homelessness and following this assessment the duty to develop a 
personalised housing plan which will include actions (or ‘reasonable 
steps’)’ to be taken by the authority and the applicant to try and prevent 
or relieve homelessness; 

 The Council’s statutory obligations and discretion as to who is 
eligible for housing allocation; 

 The Council’s statutory obligation to provide Reasonable 
Preference to certain categories of applicants set down by law;  

 The Council’s statutory discretion to grant “additional preference” 
and/or to determine priority between applicants with Reasonable 
Preference; 

 The Council also recognises its discretion to give additional 
preference to particular descriptions of people with urgent housing 
needs. 

 
2.9 Tenancies for council homes are managed according to the Council’s Tenancy 

Policy as required under the Localism Act 2011. Other housing providers have 
to take account of the Council’s Tenancy Policy when setting their own policies. 

 
 

3. GENERAL RULES AND CONDITIONS 

 
3.1. Decisions 

All decisions taken under this Policy will be made by a member of the Housing 
Solutions & Private Sector Team within the Council’s Housing Service or the 
Head of Housing where appropriate.  

 
3.2. Persons Eligible for Assistance 

Persons entitled for assistance must be a partner or a member of the 
applicant’s immediate family who normally reside with the applicant. Any other 
person or persons will only be considered as entitled if the Council is satisfied 
that it is reasonable for that person to reside with the applicant. This will 
normally exclude lodgers or anyone sub-letting from the applicant. 
 

3.3. In cases where parents share the residency of children, and wish to include 
those children as part of their housing application, the housing arrangements 
of both parents will be considered. If one parent has adequate accommodation 
for the children, the children will not be taken into account on the other parent’s 
application. Where a formal residence agreement is not in place, the council 
will consider: 

 

 Who the children usually live with; and 

 Who has financial responsibility for the children; and 

 The length of time any arrangement has been in place; and 

 Where the children go to school; and  

 Any other relevant information, for example, from social services or 
health care professionals. 

 



 

5 

3.4.  Only one application per person or household will be considered.  
 
3.5. Evidence of Identity and Housing Circumstances 

Qualifying applicants must provide satisfactory evidence of identity and past 
and current residences for themselves and all household members and proof 
of income (see 3.6). The Council will request documentary evidence from each 
applicant and will conduct such further enquiries as are reasonable in the 
circumstances, including a home visit if necessary. If an applicant fails to 
provide documentary evidence or other information reasonably required by the 
Council in order to validate the application within 56 days, this may affect the 
priority date awarded to the application.  An offer of accommodation can only 
be made once ALL documentary evidence has been provided and validated. 

 
3.6. Income and Savings 

All prospective new tenants will be required to supply evidence of their financial 
income and resources upon application and to declare any significant changes 
in financial or household circumstance where applicable. Where applicants are 
not able to show current entitlement to Income Support or Universal Credit, 
verification of income and savings will be required prior to applicants being 
offered accommodation.  Household income criteria is set out in the Council’s 
Tenancy Policy according to household earnings and size of property required.  
Any household with an income level exceeding the thresholds set out in the 
Tenancy Policy, will not be considered eligible for social housing.  Similarly 
where applicants have other resources above the level set by the Council in 
the Tenancy Policy they will also not be classed as eligible for social housing.  
Households with incomes or assets below these limits will be banded 
according to the criteria set out in this Policy. 

 
3.7. Homeowners 

Homeowners (This includes any member of the household on the housing 
register application) will not be eligible for social housing if they own a 
residential property in the UK or abroad, or part own a property under a shared 
ownership or other subsidised scheme.  This includes applicants who own a 
property but have chosen to rent it out.   
 

3.8. Applicants who own a residential caravan, mobile home or houseboat are also 
considered homeowners. In exceptional circumstances and, at the Council’s 
discretion, homeowners may qualify for social housing if it can be shown: 

 

 That occupying the home could lead to abuse or endanger the health of 
the occupant 

 

 That  the applicant has a serious medical condition and is no longer able 
to remain in their property as they have a need for adapted or specialised 
housing and they do not have sufficient funds or access to a grant to 
make it suitable, and/or are unable to afford suitable alternative 
accommodation. 

 
Such cases will be assessed by the Council on a case by case basis. 
 



 

6 

Former owner occupiers may be asked to provide proof that they no longer 
own a property and that they do not exceed the savings threshold set out in 
the Council’s Tenancy Policy. 
 

3.9. Changes of Circumstances 
Once placed in a priority band, applicants should notify the Council, of any 
material change in their circumstances that will affect their priority for housing, 
for example: 
 

 a change of address, for themselves or any other person on the 
application; 

 any additions to the family or any other person joining the application; 

 any member of the family or any other person on the application who has 
left the accommodation; 

 any significant change in income or savings; 

 a change in employment or volunteering status or any change which may 
affect the community contribution criteria. 

 
3.10. The Council will carry out an assessment of each applicant’s entitlement to 

and priority for re-housing on the basis of information which has been provided 
by the applicant or otherwise received in connection with the applicant. 

 
3.11. Investigation of Fraud 

The Council recognises its duty to protect the public resources it administers. 
Detailed enquiries about applications will therefore be made in order to guard 
against misrepresentation and fraud as set out in the Council’s Tenancy Fraud 
Policy.  Applications will be immediately suspended if there is evidence of 
misrepresentation or fraud until enquiries are completed. 

 
3.12. Any applicant seeking to obtain accommodation by making a false or 

misleading statement or by withholding relevant information or by failing to 
inform the Council of any material change in circumstances, is liable to have 
his/her application cancelled. Prosecution will be considered where it appears 
to the Council that a criminal offence has been committed. Proceedings for 
possession will be taken to recover any tenancy granted as a consequence of 
a fraudulent application for housing. 

 
3.13. Members of the Council, Staff Members and their Relations 

In order to ensure that the Council is seen to be treating all applicants fairly, 
any application for housing or rehousing from Members of the Council, 
employees of the Council or associated persons must be disclosed. These 
applications will be assessed in the normal way but any allocation of housing 
will require approval by the Head of Housing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

7 

4. ELIGIBILITY AND ASSESSMENT 

 
4.1. The Council operates a housing banding system to determine who will be 

prioritised for housing in the borough and who will not be eligible. The housing 
bands are set out in Annex 1. 
 

4.2. Applicants must be over the age of eighteen to join the housing register.  
 

4.3. Anyone can approach the Council for housing advice and assistance, 
however, as social housing in Dartford is very limited, the Council can only 
assist qualifying households.  

 
4.4. People subject to immigration control and certain other people from abroad, 

excluded by law or regulation, are not eligible for social housing. 
 

4.5. The exception to this being those transferred under section 67 of the 
Immigration Act 2016 who qualify for refugee status or humanitarian 
protection.   
 

4.6. These persons will be eligible for social housing and homelessness assistance 
under regulations 3 and 5 of the Eligibility Regulations. Under Section 67 of 
the Immigration Act 2016 leave will be granted to those transferred under 
section 67 who, following an assessment of their asylum claim, do not qualify 
for international protection. 

 
4.7. The Council will disregard as members of the household those who are 

restricted such as:  
 

 Those not resident in the UK 

 those who are subject to immigration control 

 those with no leave to enter or remain in the UK 

 those with leave but subject to a condition of no recourse to public funds. 

 Any other restrictions that may apply as set out by Government  
 

4.8.  The following classes of person will not normally qualify to join the housing 
register and will be placed into Band E.  There is discretion to waive these 
classes in exceptional circumstances, as approved by an appropriate manager: 

 
a) Applicants who have not resided in the borough continually for the last two 

years at the point of application; 
b) Applicants who have been convicted of housing or welfare benefits related; 

fraud where that conviction is unspent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders 
Act 1974 (any person may re-apply once this conviction is spent); 

c) Applicants whose income or assets exceed the limits set by the Council, as 
set out in the Council’s Tenancy Policy; 

d) Applicants who owe arrears of rent or other accommodation charges to the 
Council, or other social landlord, in respect of the current tenancy or former 
accommodation. In assessing the application for registration, the Council will 
take into account the size of the debt, the means to pay and the degree of 
need; 



 

8 

e) Applicants who owe money to the Council in any other capacity; 
f) Applicants in serious breach of their Tenancy Agreement as defined in the 

Council’s Tenancy Policy; 
g) Applicants who are regarded as homeowners, with some exceptions (please 

refer to 3.10).   
 

4.9. In all other cases, the Council will have regard to the Government’s Code of 
Guidance on the Allocation of Accommodation 2012. 
 

4.10. Local Connection 
Local connection within the terms of this Policy will normally mean that an 
applicant has lived continuously in this borough for a minimum of 2 years up 
to and including the date of their application, unless local connection is 
determined by current homeless legislation or they fall within the category of 
armed service personnel as defined in Annex 4. 
 

4.11. Local connection may also be awarded to people who need to move to 
Dartford, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship to themselves 
or to others; subject to submission of satisfactory evidence to support this.  

 
4.12. In exceptional circumstances such as under occupation or serious medical 

needs, local connection may also be awarded to council tenants living in the 
Dartford Borough if this is less than two years. 

 
4.13. Households placed in the borough of Dartford in temporary accommodation by 

another local authority will not normally be considered to have a local 
connection. 

 
4.14. Applicants who have been placed in long term temporary accommodation 

(Dartford Private Leasing Scheme) will be placed in Band D until such time as 
their needs change. In such cases, the applicant’s banding will be reviewed.  
 

4.15. In those cases where an applicant has spent time away from Dartford in an 
institution, e.g. prison, mental health, drug and alcohol treatment centres, the 
Council will give regard to local connection prior to time spent away.  

 
4.16. Medical and Welfare Needs Assessment 

A medical and welfare needs assessment will only be carried out if an applicant 
has been accepted onto the housing register and provided a medical and 
welfare needs assessment form with supporting evidence. In some instances, 
an independent assessment will be carried out by the Council’s approved 
medical practitioner. 
 

4.17. Any medical and/or Welfare needs assessment will be carried out in line with 
the Council’s current welfare and medical assessment procedures.   
 

4.18. Band D applicants from outside the borough will not progress to a higher band 
under a medical and welfare needs assessment but identified medical needs 
will be taken into account upon any allocation of a property, for example 
wheelchair accessibility. 



 

9 

 
4.19. Housing Scheme Accommodation for those aged 55 and over  

Applicants who apply for Housing Scheme Accommodation, will be subject to 
a Needs & Risk Assessment.  Whereby consideration will be given to the 
following; 

 Whether the applicant has a need for this specific type of accommodation 
with enhanced housing management;  

 Whether the applicant’s needs can be met by the accommodation 

 That the applicant has an understanding of the support provided and will 
engage with the service; 

 That they will not present a risk to the vulnerable group of individuals who are 
already living there. 

 
 

5. HOW THE COUNCIL ALLOCATES PROPERTIES 

 
5.1. Kent Homechoice 

Dartford Borough Council is a member of Kent Homechoice, a Kent-wide choice 
based lettings scheme. This means that the Council will advertise properties 
that are available to let to applicants who fall into one of the housing bands 
described in Annex 1. This will include council and housing association 
properties. 
 

5.2. As permitted under current legislation, the Council will exercise its right to 
suspend choice based lettings where business needs dictate this is necessary.   
 

5.3. Priority for council and housing association properties will be determined by 
housing band, with those applicants in Band A having a greater priority than 
those in bands B and those in Band B having greater priority than those in Band 
C and so on.   
 

5.4. Within bands, priority will be determined by date order; that is the date of 
application.  However, if a household’s circumstances change and they are 
placed in a higher banding, the date will be reset to when they entered that band.  
An applicant moving down within the banding system, will always retain the date 
from their original band.  This is to ensure that other applicant’s waiting times 
are not unfairly compromised. 

 
5.5. In considering priority for re-housing between applicants with a similar priority, 

the Council will also take account of the immediacy of need of each applicant. 
This means, for example, that where two applicants in the same band are 
interested in the same property and they have equal waiting time, preference 
may be given where one of the applicants is facing a more immediate loss of 
their existing home than the other. 

 
5.6. If an applicant has multiple needs this will NOT increase their priority.  In each 

case, the most urgent housing need will apply and the applicant will be placed 
in the banding most suitable for their needs. 

 



 

10 

5.7. The circumstances of Band A applicants will be regularly reviewed to ensure 

the household still meets the banding criteria.  Failure to bid will be taken into 

consideration when reviewing an applicant’s circumstances.  

5.8. For some client groups only one offer of accommodation is made.  These 

include all band A applicants, homeless households, those needing adapted 

properties, those moving on management grounds, reciprocal clients and 

those who are moving on from supported accommodation.   For homeless 

households, this is where an offer is made which represents a final offer under 

the Housing Act 1996, Part 6 and is made in order to discharge the Council’s 

duty under the Housing Act 1996, Part 7. 

5.9. Adverts may state if a property is targeted at certain applicants, e.g. over a 
certain age or at households with a specific medical need (for example, ground 
floor accommodation). They may also be targeted towards specific groups such 
as those that are downsizing.  

5.10. Auto bidding 
Auto bidding allows bids to be placed automatically for applicants based on their 
predetermined preferences and needs.  This includes choices of areas, property 
type and floor, pets, lift access, garden and rent levels.  The Council sets the 
parameters based on the applicant’s needs and wishes and the computer 
system places the bid.  The bids are placed at the end of the advertising and 
there is still a 3 open bid limit.  Auto bidding is implemented for a variety of 
customers including homeless applicants, tenants wishing to downsize and 
those have told us they are unable to bid for themselves and have no family or 
friends to assist. 
 

5.11. Suspension from the Housing Register 
Applicants may be suspended from the housing register for reasons including, 

but not limited to: 

 Owing debt to the Council or social housing provider that has 

accumulated whilst on the Register 

 A change of circumstances affecting eligibility 

 A request for a review of the suitability of accommodation has been 

made 

 Other discretionary reasons as agreed by the Head of Housing 

Applicants will be suspended for a maximum of two years before they are 

removed from the register. 

 

5.12. Allocations outside of Kent Homechoice 
The Council reserves the right to restrict the operation of Kent Homechoice to 
certain groups of applicants or to make direct offers of accommodation to 



 

11 

households waiting for re-housing in order to fulfil its housing management 
duties and responsibilities.  Decisions to allocate properties outside of Kent 
Homechoice will be authorised by the Head of Housing.  
 

5.13. A statutory homelessness criterion applies to applicants who are owed a 
homelessness duty to secure accommodation under S.193 Housing Act 1996. 
In some cases, a direct and final suitable offer may be made to households 
owed a homeless duty.  

 
5.14. The Council considers a property to be suitable if it is the correct bedroom size 

for the household and meets any medical needs that have already been 

predetermined. 

5.15. Where an applicant wishes to appeal the suitability of an offer of Council owned 

accommodation, the property will be held available whilst the appeal is 

considered.  

5.16. Applicants are still able to bid for a property under Kent Homechoice up until the 
point a direct offer is made.  If an applicant successfully bids for a property, this 
will count as a final offer of accommodation made under homeless legislation. 
 

5.17. Suitability of accommodation  
Where accommodation is offered outside of Kent Homechoice, an applicant will 
normally be expected to accept an offer of a suitable property that meets their 
needs (housing and medical).  
 

5.18. The Council will seek to take into account an applicant’s particular or special 
needs but it will not always be possible to ensure that these needs are met. In 
considering what is reasonable, the Council will have regard to the overall 
supply of council accommodation and the demands placed upon it by all priority 
groups. 

 
5.19. As a guideline and subject to the individual circumstances of each application, 

the Council will normally consider that a property is suitable if: 
 

 It is in an area that the Council considers to be reasonable for the 
applicant to reside in.  This will include;  

 If it is in an area that is safe for them to reside in. 

 It is sized in accordance with the criteria in Annex 3. 

 It complies with any recommendation made by a Medical or other 
relevant advisor and agreed by the Council. 

 
5.20. An offer of accommodation which is arranged by way of a nomination to a 

housing association or private sector property will be considered to be as 
reasonable as an offer of a council tenancy and will discharge the Council’s 
homelessness duty (as prescribed in the Localism Act 2011). 
 

5.21. Applicants may be offered on line tenancy training to support them if required.  
This could include information and advice on paying rent, paying bills, 
decorating and general budgeting etc. 



 

12 

5.22. Move on from supported accommodation  
Priority may be given to applicants that are moving on from supported 
accommodation which has been agreed by the Council in one of the following 
ways; 
 

 Move on from supported accommodation where the Council has 
discharged its functions under the HRA 2017 and where this has been 
identified and confirmed in the applicant’s Personalised Housing Plan 
(this can be for accommodation that falls outside of the borough);  

 Move on from supported accommodation provided as part of the duties 
under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 prior to April 3rd 2018 and as 
determined by the Council;  

 Where a priority referral has been accepted by the local authority under 
the Kent Agency Assessment Procedure (Joint Stock referrals); 

 Move on from any other supported accommodation as agreed by the 
Council.  
 

5.23. In some circumstances a direct offer will be made to applicants where a move 
on has been agreed.   
 

5.24. Only one offer of accommodation (including through successful bidding on 
Kent Homechoice) will be made.  This is to ensure that a household’s urgent 
housing needs are met as quickly as possible.  A refusal of a direct offer or a 
refusal following a successful bid will be considered by an appropriate senior 
manager. 
 

5.25. In some circumstances, move on cases may be escalated to Band A.  This 
would be at the discretion of the Council and would be agreed by the Head 
of Housing. 

 

6. HOMELESS APPLICANTS 

6.1. Bandings 

Applicants who are owed a homelessness duty under s.193 (2) or s.195 (2) 

of the Housing Act (as amended) will be given reasonable preference, but 

with reduced priority, and placed into Band D.   Additional priority will only be 

given in the following circumstances: 

 

 Move on from a range of accommodation where the Council has 
discharged its functions under the HRA 2017 and where this has been 
identified and confirmed in the applicant’s Personalised Housing Plan 
or; 

 Where discretion has been given to applicants under the HRA 2017 
where it has been determined that access to affordable housing is the 
only/most appropriate solution and where applicants are likely to be in 
priority need.  

 
 

 



 

13 

6.2. Offers 
Homeless applicants will only receive one suitable offer of accommodation 

and this will be the final offer (see 5.16 for suitability)  

 

6.3. The offer can be anywhere in the borough of Dartford unless there are unsafe 

areas that have been predetermined.  

 

6.4. Auto bidding on Kent Home Choice is automatically enabled for homeless 

applicants.  Any successful bids by this method will count as the final offer of 

accommodation.   

 

6.5. An offer of suitable accommodation, which is arranged by way of a nomination 
to a housing association or private sector property, will be considered to be as 
reasonable as an offer of a council tenancy and will discharge the Council’s 
homelessness duty (as prescribed in the Localism Act 2011). 
 

6.6. Refusal of an offer of suitable accommodation 
If a review of the offer of suitable accommodation is requested, the property 
will only be made available for a very short period of time. Properties must be 
viewed on the date stated in the offer letter from the Housing Management 
Team or housing association. Reasons for refusing the offer must then be 
made immediately in writing (see 9.3). The offer of accommodation cannot be 
held open if the Council does not receive these reasons in writing within 24 
hours.  If reasons in writing are not received within this timescale, the Council 
will assume that this offer has been refused.  The reasons for refusing an offer 
will be considered by a senior manager not related to the case. 

 

6.7. If the Council does not agree with the applicant’s reasons for refusing the offer, 

the applicant will be given the opportunity to accept the offer again.  If this offer 

is still not accepted, no further offers will be made.  

 

6.8. It should be noted, that applicants who are homeless and who are offered 

suitable accommodation under s193 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 also have a 

right to accept an offer, move in to the property and still seek a review regarding 

its suitability. If the Council agrees that the property is not suitable, after a 

review, another suitable offer will be made in due course and applicants can 

continue to bid for a property up until the point another direct offer is made. 

 
7. TRANSFERS AND TENANCY SUCCESSIONS 

 
7.1. Applications for a transfer may be made jointly by separate tenants of the 

Council who wish to apply for housing together, on the condition that both 
tenancies will be relinquished if the Council makes an acceptable offer of a 
transfer to a third property. 
 

7.2. On occasion it may be necessary for a council tenant to move out of their 
existing home to allow major works to be carried out or because their home is 
due to be demolished. In these circumstances, the Council will use its 



 

14 

discretion to prioritise a move to a suitable alternative home by placing the 
tenant in Band A at an appropriate time. 
 

7.3. Council tenants who have to move because major works are required to their 
home will have the option of moving back to their original home once the works 
have been completed in accordance with the Council’s Decant Policy 2018. 
 

7.4. Tenants with Introductory Tenancies will not be eligible to apply for a transfer, 
unless exceptional circumstances apply. 
 

7.5. There may be other reasons tenants need to transfer from their current 
accommodation that is not covered in this Policy.  In such cases, the Head of 
Housing will make the decision. 
 

7.6. Housing association tenants living in the borough of Dartford are eligible to 
apply to join the Council’s transfer list with the agreement of their current 
landlord. 

 
7.7. Mutual Exchanges 

Lifetime Secure and flexible tenants have certain rights in relation to 
exchanging their tenancies with other tenants. These do not fall within the 
scope of this Policy, and full details of how these schemes operate can be 
found in the Council’s Mutual Exchange Policy which is available on the 
Council’s website at: https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-
strategy-and-policy-documents 

. 
7.8. In some cases, a local lettings policy may be in place which may restrict a 

mutual exchange if the tenant has not held a secure tenancy for at least 12 
months. 

 
7.9. Discretionary Succession 

Housing law means that certain household members are entitled to succeed 
to a council tenancy when the tenant dies. This statutory right only applies to 
the first time that a succession occurs, but beyond this, the Council will use its 
discretion to allow additional successions to take place in the following 
circumstances:   

 

 The person applying for succession has lived continuously in the 
property as their principle home for twelve months before the death of 
the tenant and: 

 They are the spouse or civil partner of the tenant 

 The property is suitable for their needs.  
 

7.10. Where a property is not suitable for the person applying to succeed, for 
example because it is too large, the Council will provide assistance to find 
alternative accommodation.  This could include an offer of accommodation in 
the private rented sector. Where a discretionary succession is agreed, the 
tenancy will be treated as a new tenancy which means that in most cases a 
flexible tenancy will be granted, unless the applicant falls within a category of 
people who will still be granted a lifetime tenancy (full details can be found in 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


 

15 

the Council’s current Tenancy Policy at https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-

category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents ).  

 
 

8. CONDITION AND SIZE OF ACCOMMODATION 
 

8.1. All council accommodation offered will be habitable and in reasonable repair, 
in accordance with the Council’s Void Policy and in accordance with the 
Fitness for Human Habitation Act 2018.  Housing Associations will have their 
own policy on lettable standards but still in accordance with the above Act. 
 

8.2. The size of accommodation offered will depend upon the size and composition 
of the applicant’s household. The requirements for each size of household are 
set out in Annex 3. 
 

8.3. Larger accommodation than specified in Annex 3 may be considered in 
exceptional circumstances in accordance with current Housing 
Benefit/Universal Credit regulations or any such regulations that may be 
introduced. 
 

8.4. In calculating the number of bedrooms available within properties, the Council 
will treat every habitable room as a bedroom except kitchens, bathrooms and 
one room for use as a living room. The Council will normally consider additional 
downstairs rooms in houses for use as bedrooms in accordance with Housing 
Benefit regulations. 
 

8.5. Management transfers which have been agreed due to extreme circumstances 
such as violent assault, harassment etc. will be able to move to alternative 
accommodation if it is the only viable resolution to their current difficulties. 
Moves will only be agreed where the alternative accommodation is the same 
size and type as they currently occupy unless there are exceptional 
circumstances or they need smaller accommodation.  This decision will be 
made by the Head of Housing according to the management transfer process 
and procedure.  
 

8.6. Types of Property 
Some properties or blocks of properties are designated for allocation only to 
applicants sharing a common characteristic or need, for example: 
 

 Properties in blocks of flats for people aged over 40, or aged over 50 

 Properties in housing schemes for people over 55 

 Properties in housing schemes offering special services 

 Individual properties which are adapted or otherwise particularly suitable 
for applicants who use a wheelchair 

 
Kent Homechoice will specify what type of property is being offered in the 
advert. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


 

16 

9.  PROCEDURE FOR APPEALS AND REVIEWS 

 
9.1. Bandings 

All applicants have the right to request general information about their 
application.  Applicants will be notified of this in writing where requested.  
 

9.2. If an applicant wishes to request a review of the banding decision, they must 
make this within 21 days.  Any request for a review must be made in writing and 
clearly set out the reasons why an applicant does not agree with the Council’s 
decision.   The Council will seek any further information it requires, including 
advice from medical and other specialist advisors. Formal reviews will be 
conducted by a team leader or manager within the Council’s Housing Service 
with no previous involvement in the case who will notify the applicant of the 
outcome of the review, including the reasons for their decision, within 56 days 
from the date of the review request. 

 

9.3. Offers of Accommodation 
Some applicants, for example those that will be made only one offer of 
accommodation, can request a review of the suitability of accommodation. This 
can be requested at viewing.  Any request for a review must be made in writing 
and clearly set out the reasons why an applicant does not agree with the 
Council’s decision.   The Council will seek any further information it requires, 
including advice from medical and other specialist advisors. Formal reviews will 
be conducted by a team leader or manager within the Council’s Housing Service 
with no previous involvement in the case who will notify the applicant of the 
outcome of the review, including the reasons for their decision (see also 6.2 - 
6.9).  

 
10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND MONITORING 

 
10.1. The Council is committed to the principle of equal opportunities in the delivery 

of all its services.  An Equality Impact Assessment of this Policy can be viewed 
at www.dartford.gov.uk 

 

10.2. Applicants will be invited to indicate if they wish to make use of the Council’s 
translation and interpretation services, or if they require other special services 
as a result of visual impairment, hearing difficulties or other disability.  
Confidential interview facilities are provided at the Council offices and there is 
full access for people who use a wheelchair.  
   

10.3. This Policy is being operated in a manner that is fair to all sections of the 
community. The information provided will be kept confidential and treated with 
respect in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018. 
 

10.4. All applicants for housing or rehousing will be asked to provide details such as 
ethnic origin and disability. This is not however, a requirement for acceptance 
of an application. Equalities records will be kept and monitored on a regular and 
systematic basis to ensure properties are being offered and allocated fairly and 
in line with The Equality Act 2010 and data protection provisions. 

 
10.5. The Allocations’ Policy will be reviewed regularly to ensure it does not operate 

in ways that discriminate against or disadvantage any particular group 



 

17 

 
11. CONFIDENTIALITY 

 
The disclosure of information about any housing application to a third party is 
prohibited unless the applicant has agreed to the disclosure or if the information is 
required  on a “need to know” basis in the following circumstances: 
 

 to plan and provide assistance jointly with health and social services 
agencies in appropriate cases; 

 for the purpose of fraud detection, the prevention of crime, and the 
promotion of community safety; 

 to enable efficient administration of offers of rehousing, lettings, housing 
association nominations, and rent and benefit accountancy etc. where 
disclosure is a legal requirement. 

 
12. ACCESS TO PERSONAL DATA 

 
12.1. The Data Protection Act 2018 (applying the General Data Protection Regulation) 

provides individuals with a right to request access to any of their personal data 
held by the Council, and a right to know where the data came from, how it is 
used and why it is held. Such a request is called a “subject access request” 
(SAR) and applies to personal data in housing files. 

 
12.2. Subject access requests should be made in writing to the Council and must 

describe the information sought. Applications must state their name and provide 
proof of their identity, such as a copy of a passport, driving licence, or recent 
utility bill. 

 
12.3. Any applications made by third parties on behalf of an applicant (for example by 

a lawyer acting for a client) must be accompanied by written evidence of 
authority to act. If this is not possible by reason of disability then the Council 
should be contacted in order to make alternative arrangements. 

 
12.4. Once the Council has received the information it must begin processing the 

request and respond within 30 days. There is a limited range of exemptions from 
the right of subject access. 

 
12.5. Housing files may contain information about other people (third parties), such 

as details of complaints made by other tenants, or comments made by housing 
staff. If the Council cannot respond to a request without giving information about 
other people, it is not obliged to include this information in its response unless 
they consent, or unless it thinks it is reasonable in all the circumstances to 
disclose this information without their consent. 

 
12.6. Under the DPA, applicants also have inter alia, the right to challenge the 

accuracy of information held on them and may request the correction of records 
which they believe to be inaccurate. Data subject rights are explained in the 
Council’s Corporate Privacy Notice www.dartford.gov.uk and service specific 
privacy notices. The exercise of these rights by data subjects is in accordance 
with the Council’s data protection policies and procedures. 

 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


 

18 

13. ACCESS TO OTHER INFORMATION 
 

13.1. Anyone has the right to request access to recorded information held by the 
Council, either under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) or, for 
environmental information, the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 
(EIRs).  

 
13.2. Requests under the FOIA must be made in writing, must include the applicant’s 

name and a correspondence address and must specifically describe the 
information requested. Requests under the EIRs must also comply with these 
regulations except that they can be made verbally. Please address requests 
under the FOIA or EIRs to the “FOI Officer” at the Council’s postal address or to 
foi@Dartford.gov.uk. 

 
13.3. Once a valid request has been received the Council must respond within 20 

working days unless an extension of time has been agreed. 
 
13.4. Requests made by individuals under FOIA for their own personal data will be 

treated as “subject access requests” under the DPA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:foi@barnet.gov.uk


 

19 

ANNEX 1 – DARTFORD HOUSING BANDS 
 
 

Band A – High Housing Needs 

 
Applications from persons who meet the following criteria: 
 

a. High medical or welfare needs in accordance with the Council’s Medical 
Assessment process.   

b. Where a high priority referral has been accepted by the local authority under 
the Kent Agency Assessment Procedure (Joint Stock referrals).   

c. Management transfers or reciprocal arrangements where the social landlord 
requires the tenant to move or the tenant needs to move due to violence, 
harassment, intimidation or threats of violence likely to be carried out.   

d. Major works to the Council’s property have to be carried out in accordance 
with the Council’s Decant Policy 2018.  

e. Households, living in the Dartford Borough, who are under-occupying their 
council property. 

f. Other urgent management reason agreed by the Head of Housing. 
g. Escalation of move-on from supported or specialist housing cases; as agreed 

by the Head of Housing  
 
 

Band B – Medium Housing Needs 

 
Applications from persons where none of the above in Band A applies but who meet 
the following criteria: 
 

a. Eligible households who have reasonable preference (band C) and who qualify 
under the Community Contribution category as defined in Annex 4. 

b. Armed forces personnel who fulfill the criteria set out in Annex 4. 
c. Medium medical or welfare needs in accordance with the Council’s Medical 

Assessment process. 
d. Where a medium priority referral has been accepted by the local authority 

under the Kent Agency Assessment Procedure (Joint Stock referrals).   
e. Households occupying a majorly adapted property where that property is no 

longer required (to be agreed by Dartford Borough Council). 
f. Where a household is suffering from the following: 

 

 Major overcrowding, that is lacking two or more bedrooms. See Annex 
Three. 

 Living in a housing scheme with support and needs to move as support is 
no longer required. 

 Property is in disrepair, as agreed by the Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

20 

Band C – Reasonable Preference 

 
Applications from persons where none of the above in band A or band B applies but 
who meet the following criteria: 
 

a. Low medical or welfare needs in accordance with the Council’s Medical 
Assessment process. 

b. Move on from accommodation where Dartford Borough Council has 
discharged the functions under the HRA 2017 and where this has been 
identified and confirmed in the Personalised Housing Plan (This includes 
supported housing, the private rented sector and living with family etc.) or; 

c. Discretion has been given to applicants under the HRA 2017 where it has been 
assessed that social housing is the only/most appropriate solution and where 
applicants are likely to be in priority need.  

d. Applicants with no fixed abode where proof of local connection can be 
established through for example doctors, dentist, Job Centre or council held 
records or any other records that may be available. 

e. Applicants leaving prison where a local connection, under the terms of this 
policy, prior to incarceration, can be established. 

f. Applicants occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions.  This would apply, for example, if a person 
was lacking basic facilities, or was overcrowded. 

g. Applicants who need to move to Dartford, where failure to meet that need 
would cause hardship to themselves or to others. For example, to give or 
receive care that is substantial and ongoing.  

 
The full criterion for assessing Reasonable Preference can be found in Annex Two. 
 
       

Band D – Reduced Priority  

 
Applications from persons where none of the above in Band A, band B or band C 
applies, or:            
          

a) Applicants who are intentionally homeless where a decision has been made 
by the local authority under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) or, 
where a person has deliberately worsened their housing circumstances (such 
as deliberate overcrowding) and would have been found to be intentionally 
homeless if an application under Part VII had been made.   

b) Applicants owed Reasonable Preference but who have been given reduced 
priority but are owed, or are likely to be owed, a duty under s.193 (2) or 195 
(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (or unders.65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985). 
Those households owed a full homeless duty in suitable long term temporary 
accommodation will be allocated Band D 

c) Applicants who are homeless by another local authority.  This applies where a 
duty is owed by another local authority under section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) 
of the Housing Act 1996, or who are occupying accommodation secured by 
another local authority under section 192(3) 

d) Applicants who have been placed in long term temporary accommodation by 
the Council (see 3.9.) including Dartford Private Leasing Scheme properties. 



 

21 

e) Applicants who have no local connection with the Borough but are aged over 
55 and who qualify for housing in a scheme for older persons, following a 
completed needs and risk assessment.   

f) Applicants who have deliberately worsened their housing circumstances (see 
Annex 5)  
 

Band E – general without priority  

 
a) Applications from persons where none of the above in band A, band B, C or D 

applies, and; 
b) They have no local connection with the district as defined by this Policy, and/or; 
c) They meet or exceed the financial threshold set out in the Council’s Tenancy 

Policy and/or; 
d) They do not have an urgent medical or welfare need.  

 

ANNEX 2 - People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (criteria 
may apply to any member of the household) 

 
Medical or welfare priority is awarded where the current housing is adversely affecting 
the health or wellbeing of an applicant, or member of their household, and whereby 
a move would positively improve their health or wellbeing. Below are examples of 
where priority would be awarded (not applicable to Band D applicants). 
 
Band A –High medical or welfare needs 
 

a. Any life threatening illness being made worse by housing conditions 
b. A person who is housebound due to stairs or steps (e.g. using a wheelchair in 

an upstairs property)  
c. Any person who requires specifically adapted accommodation which they are 

lacking.   
d. Any person who cannot be released from hospital until alternative 

accommodation is secured. 
e. Severe and enduring mental health issues significantly affected by current 

accommodation. 
 

Band B - Medium medical or welfare needs 
 
Applicants with a reasonable preference for whom a band C medical award applies 
but where the medical issues are more serious in nature but not as high as band A.  
Band B medical cases will also apply where multiple Band C medical conditions 
combine to create an overall greater need. 
 
Band C – Low medical and welfare needs 
 

a. Mental health issues affected by current accommodation. 
b. Elderly persons with moderate to severe arthritis which significantly affects 

mobility living in accommodation that is unsuitable for their needs (e.g. living 
upstairs or on a steep hill).   

c. Conditions requiring on going medical treatment, being very being moderately 
exacerbated by living conditions’ 



 

22 

d. Conditions causing a reduction in mobility when combined with stairs or poor 
location.   

 

ANNEX 3 – SIZES OF HOMES 

 
When considering whether a household is suffering from overcrowding, a local 
authority will take into account both the number of bedrooms and number of bed 
spaces available to the household. 
 
Kitchens and living rooms are not bedrooms for the purpose of the assessment. The 
intended function of the room will be considered rather than its current use.  Although 
for example in the case of a dwelling that has two separate reasonable sized 
living/dining rooms, it may be that one of these rooms will be considered as bedroom 
accommodation, as long as there remains sufficient living space for the household. 
 
For the purposes of this assessment the Council considers that the following is 
sufficient living space:  
 

a) a single person of working age would be entitled to one bed space in one 
bedroom.  This could include a bedsit or shared accommodation 

b) a person living together with another as husband and wife (whether that other 
person is of the same sex or the opposite sex) would be entitled to two bed 
spaces in one bedroom. 

c) a person aged 21 years or more would be entitled to one bed space in one 
bedroom within the family home. 

d) two persons of the same sex aged 0 years to 20 years would be entitled to two 
bed spaces in one bedroom. 

e) two persons (whether of the same sex or not) aged less than 10 years would 
be entitled to two bed spaces in one bedroom. 

f) two persons of opposite sexes where one person is aged 10 or over would be 
entitled to one bedroom each with one bed space in each. 

Bed spaces refer to the number of beds that can reasonably be accommodated in 
each room. 
 
. 

ANNEX 4 - COMMUNITY CONTRIBUTION 

 
If a household or person in housing need qualifies for ‘reasonable preference’ under 
a community contribution award they will be placed in Band B.  This includes the 
following groups: 

 
1. Working Households 

 
This Policy aims to support the economic growth of Dartford. The Council wants to 
encourage people who can, to work and to raise their levels of aspiration and 
ambition. The Council will offer increased priority to applicants who are working but 
are on a low income and will therefore find difficulty in accessing outright home 
ownership, low cost home ownership or private rented accommodation.  
 



 

23 

Definition of Working Households 
 
Households where at least one adult household member is in employment. For the 
purposes of this Allocations Policy employment is described as having a permanent 
contract, working as a temporary member of staff or being self-employed (self 
employment must be verified by documents from HMRC). 
 
Applicants will only qualify if the worker has been employed for 6 out of the last 12 
months. Verification will be sought at point of application as well as point of offer under 
the same terms. Applicants must provide payslips, P60, bank statements or a 
verifying letter on headed paper in order to qualify. 
 
2. Volunteering 

 
Volunteers must have been volunteering for a continuous period of at least 6 months 
up to the point of application and the same at point of offer. Volunteering must be for 
a minimum of 10 hours per month.   
 
Evidence required for voluntary work. 
 
A letter on the organisations’ headed paper from the manager responsible for 
volunteers confirming the applicant volunteers for a minimum of 10 hours per month 
for at least 6 months.  This person must not be related to the applicant in any way.  
Contact may be made with the organisation to confirm eligibility. 
 
3.  Service and ex service personnel 

 
The following applicants will qualify for a community contribution if they fall within a 
statutory reasonable preference category.   
 
a) Serving members of the regular forces who are suffering from a serious injury, 

illness or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service 
b) Former members of the regular forces who have been discharged within the 
 past 10 years, who have a housing need and can demonstrate a local link1 
c) Bereaved or divorced/separated spouses or civil partners of those serving in 

the regular forces where:  
(i)  the bereaved or divorced/separated spouse or civil partner has 

recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in Ministry of 
Defence accommodation following the death, divorce or separation 
of their service spouse or civil partner, and, where deceased,   

(ii) the death was wholly or partly attributable to their service 
 

d) Existing or former members of the reserve forces who are suffering from a 
serious injury, illness, or disability, including mental health issues, which is 
wholly or partly attributable to their service 

 
Service with the armed forces may be confirmed with the Royal British Legion. 
 

                                                           
1 This will not be the local connection as set out in section 4.7. However, applicant must have a demonstrable 
link to the borough such as previous residence, family or employment  



 

24 

4. Prospective Foster Carers or Adopters 
 

The Council recognises the contribution that Dartford foster carers and adopters 
make towards ensuring that children in care receive a good service in the Dartford 
area. In order to qualify for a community contribution award under this policy, 
applicants will require a letter from Kent County Council Children’s Service confirming 
that they have been approved as a Dartford foster carer or adopter and that they are 
in a position to take one or more placements. 
 
 
5. Carers 

 
Carers qualify for the community contribution award under this Policy and are 
identified as the following; 

 

 Applicants who undertake formal care of dependents and are in receipt of 
carers allowance or care element of a current disability benefit. Or; 

 

 A carer who provides help and support to a partner, relative, friend or 
neighbour, who would not manage without their help. This could be due to age, 
physical or mental health, addiction, or disability. In all cases the carer must 
have been identified by the applicant as the person who is primarily 
responsible for providing them with care, and the need to live with them or near 
them. 

 
Even if a carer is in receipt of Carer’s Allowance this does not necessarily 
mean that it is necessary for them to reside with the person who is being cared 
for. An application to include a carer in a housing application will be considered 
if the carer has been assessed by Social Care and Health as needing to 
provide overnight support. In these circumstances the applicant must provide 
supporting evidence from other agencies e.g. Social Care or a Health 
professional. 

 
In all cases above, full contact details must be provided which will be verified by the 
Council. 
 
 

ANNEX 5 – DELIBERATE WORSENING OF CIRCUMSTANCES 

 
Where there is evidence that an applicant has deliberately made their housing 

situation worse in order to gain a higher priority on the register, the assessment of 

their needs will be based on the circumstances before their situation changed through 

their deliberate worsening of their circumstances.  

Examples of this are: 

a) Applicants who have allowed family members or others to move into their 
property, who previously had suitable accommodation or the financial means to 
secure their own accommodation, and this has resulted in the property being 
overcrowded. 



 

25 

b) Applicants who have moved from previously suitable or more suitable 
accommodation which it were reasonable for them to continue to occupy, into a 
less suitable property. 

c) Homeowners who have transferred their property to another family member within 
the last 5 years from the date they made their application to the Register.  

d) Applicants who have given up affordable and suitable private rented 
accommodation which they are able to maintain, to move in with other relatives or 
friends, creating a situation of overcrowding and/or sharing of bathroom/kitchen 
and/or a split household; 

e) Applicants where it is proven that they have colluded with a landlord or family 
member to issue them with a Notice to Quit 
 

These are examples only. There will be other circumstances to consider when 
deciding whether an applicant has deliberately worsened their circumstances. 
 



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

CABINET 
25 July 2019 

 

DRAFT HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 2019-
2023 
 

 

1. Summary 
 

1.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 requires local housing authorities to carry out a 
review of homelessness in their district at least every five years. The aim of the 
review is to inform, develop and publish a Homeless Strategy. 

 
1.2 A review of homelessness was carried out in 2017 and a new Homeless 

Strategy 2018-2023 was adopted by the General Assembly of the Council on 
19 March 2018. 

 
1.3 This report presents an update to the above Strategy, in light of new legislation 

and operational methods, including a requirement for the Council to publish a 
strategy for tackling rough sleeping. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. That the Strategic Housing Board note the contents of this report and 
recommend accordingly to Cabinet. 
 

2.2. That Cabinet approve the Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy 
2019, attached at Appendix A to this report.   

 

 

3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 and the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 
places a duty on local housing authorities to provide advice and assistance 
to homeless people and people threatened with homelessness in their 
district. The Housing Solutions team within the Housing Service carries out 
this duty.   

 

3.2. In order that a strategic approach is taken towards the Council’s delivery of 
homelessness advice and assistance, the Housing Service undertakes a 
review of homelessness and then produces a Homelessness Strategy every 
five years in line with the requirements of the Homelessness Act 2002. (A 
copy of the full Homelessness (Review report is available to view on line at 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-
policy-documents and is available on request).  
 

3.3. In 2018, the Government announced new measures for tackling rough 
sleeping nationwide and legislated that local authorities must prepare and 
publish a strategy to combat rough sleeping in their area by December 2019.  
During the last rough sleeper count in 2018 it was estimated that there were 
12 people sleeping rough across the borough. 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

CABINET 
25 July 2019 

 
 

3.4. It is recognised that rough sleeping can have a distressing and detrimental 
impact on people and although rough sleeping is comparatively low in the 
Borough (when compared with other local authorities),  the Council’s aim will 
be to reduce the levels of rough sleeping in the borough as far as possible.  

3.5. A new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-2023 has been 
developed. The aim of the Strategy is to “proactively prevent homelessness 
and rough sleeping through strong partnership working, and to provide an 
inclusive and accessible service to all”. 

      To make this aim a reality, the Strategy contains five strategic objectives: 

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ONE - PREVENTION & RELIEF 
To prevent and relieve homelessness and rough sleeping wherever 
possible in line with the requirements of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 (HRA 2017) and the Government’s National Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2018.  

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE TWO – ACCOMMODATION 
To provide a range of accommodation for homeless households, 
making innovative use of solutions in the private sector.  

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE THREE -  PARTNERSHIP WORKING  
To work with local organisations to provide a coordinated approach to 
tackling and preventing homelessness.   
  

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE FOUR – MONITORING 
To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer satisfaction, 
Government policy, legislation and good practice.  
 

3.6. This Strategy 2019-2023 contains a list of achievements from actions referred 
to in the Strategy 2018-2023 and sets out new actions to be delivered up to 
2021   

 

3.7. Monitoring and review of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

Progress being made to deliver the Strategy 2019-2023 will to be monitored 
by the multi-agency Dartford Homeless Strategy and Rough Sleeper 
Implementation Group (HSIG), which was formed under the last strategy. The 
aim of this group is for partner organisations to come together to drive the 
implementation of the Strategy 2019-2023. The HSIG is open to 
representatives from Health, Kent County Council Social Care, Kent 
Supporting People, Kent Probation, registered housing providers, and 
voluntary agencies.  

 

3.8. In terms of review, a report detailing progress of delivery will be presented to 
the HSIG on a regular basis, to ensure that its actions remain relevant and to 
consider new and emerging issues that need to be tackled. 



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
10 July 2019 

CABINET 
25 July 2019 

 
 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 This report relates to the Corporate Plan aim ‘To facilitate quality, choice 

and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant 
communities and deliver high quality services to service users’. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and 

risk assessment 
 

Financial Implications Various budgets are in place to support the 
Council’s Homeless Service and Strategy 
including a homelessness prevention budget of 
£107,000. Government funding has moved 
towards a prevention focus but the service 
continues to be under financial pressure as 
spending on temporary accommodation continues 
to be in excess of the available budget. 

Legal Implications It is a requirement of the Homelessness Act 2002 
(section 1) for local housing authorities to develop 
and publish a homelessness strategy. 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 

Appendix A – Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy 2019 – 2023 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

 Date / 
File Ref 

Report Authors Section 
and 
Directorat
e 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

Homelessness 
Review 2017 

 N/A  Jackie Pye x3683 Housing 
Services 
Strategic  

N/A 

 





 

 
1  

 
 
 
  

DARTFORD 
BOROUGH COUNCIL  
DRAFT 
HOMELESSNESS & 
ROUGH SLEEPER 
STRATEGY 2019-
2023 

 

      

July 2019 



 

 
2  

 Contents  
(to be added) 

 

 
Page 

 

 

 

 



 

 
3  

1. Introduction and National Context 
 

1.1. This draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy builds on the Council’s 2017 

review of homelessness in the borough and the subsequent development of a 

Homelessness Strategy in 2018; taking account of new legislation and working 

practices brought about by the implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 

and the Government’s Rough Sleeper Strategy 2018. 

1.2. The Council recognises that for many people living in Dartford, access to secure good 

quality housing can be challenging in the light of economic uncertainty and welfare 

reforms.  We also recognise the serious impact that homelessness can have on 

people’s lives especially those that are vulnerable and at greater risk of homelessness. 

1.3. Prevention of homelessness is at the heart of the Council’s strategic priorities and we 

are committed to early intervention in our service delivery with access to advice and 

assistance to all those that approach the service, whether they are vulnerable or not. 

1.4. Nationally, incidents of homelessness have been rising for a number of years and the 

increased use of temporary accommodation is a direct consequence of this.  For 

example, there were nearly 57,000, annual homelessness acceptances in 2016/17, 

17,000 higher than in 2009/10. In addition main housing duty acceptances stood at 42% 

above those in 2009/10. 

1.5. At the end of March 2018 the most common reasons for loss of last settled homes 

nationally were:  

 Parents, other relatives or friends no longer willing or able to accommodate (28%). 

 Loss of rented or tied accommodation due to termination of assured shorthold 

tenancy (25%). 

 Violent breakdown of relationship involving partner (12%). 

 Other reason (e.g. homeless in emergency, sleeping rough or in hostel, returned 

from abroad) (7%).  

 Non-violent breakdown of relationship with partner (6%). 

 Loss of rented or tied accommodation due to reasons other than termination of 

assured shorthold tenancy (6%). 

1.6. On 31 March 2018, the total number of households in temporary accommodation 
arranged by local authorities under homelessness legislation was 79,880, up 66% on 
31 December 2010.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
4  

Summary of national homeless 
statistics 

2009/10 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

% increase 

2009/10-  

2017/18  

Rough sleeping in England – 
snapshot 

1,768 2,744 3,569 4,134 4,751 69 

Local authority statutory 
homelessness cases 

 
 
89,120 

112,350 114,780 115,580 109,380 23 

Local authority statutory 
homelessness acceptances 

40,020 54,430 57,740 59,120 56,630 42 

 

1.7. With rising homelessness and temporary accommodation the Government proposed 
improvements to the legal framework to prevent and tackle homelessness more 
effectively. 

 
1.8. The framework was given Royal Assent as The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

which commenced on 3rd April 2018. The Act amends the legislative framework laid 
out in the Housing Act 1996 and places new duties on Councils to: 

 
a) Improve advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of 

homelessness, tailored to individual needs.  
 

b) Extend the period at which a client may be considered as ‘threatened with 
homelessness’, and thus potentially owed a duty to be housed, from 28 days to 56 
days.  
 

c) Prevent and relieve homelessness for all eligible people, regardless of priority need 
and local connection. 
 

d) Prepare needs assessments and personalised housing plans, setting out the actions 
housing authorities and individuals will take to help secure accommodation.  
 

e) Work together with other agencies and public bodies to prevent and relieve 
homelessness through a mandatory duty to refer.  

 
1.9. The Act also places a duty of specified public bodies to refer those clients they are 

working with and are homeless or threatened with homelessness, to a local authority 
homelessness service. This duty commenced on 1st October 2018. 

 
1.10. Recent central government policy and initiatives have been focused on reducing the 

impact on vulnerable households and to ensure local housing authorities are providing 
effective prevention activities and consistent frontline services, for all those who 
approach. 

 
1.11. The Government aims to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and end it by 2027. It launched 

its new Rough Sleeping Strategy in August 2018 and requests that all homelessness 
strategies are reviewed and rebadged by the end of 2019 to include a specific focus on 
addressing rough sleeping. 



 

 
5  

 

1.12. Alongside this framework, the Government has also implemented widespread and 
significant welfare reforms, including the roll out of Universal Credit.  

 

2. Objectives for this Strategy 

2.1. The vision for the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is:   

To proactively prevent homelessness and rough sleeping 
through strong partnership working and provide an inclusive 

and accessible service to all 

 
2.2. The Council’s strategic priorities for the Strategy are as follows: 

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ONE - PREVENTION & RELIEF 
  
To prevent and relieve homelessness and rough sleeping wherever 
possible in line with the requirements of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 and the Government’s Rough Sleeper Strategy 2018.  

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE TWO - ACCOMMODATION   
To provide a range of accommodation for homeless households, making 
innovative use of solutions in the private sector and continue to increase 
the council housing stock through development and acquisitions.  

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE THREE -  PARTNERSHIP WORKING  
  
To work with local organisations to provide a coordinated approach to 
tackling and preventing homelessness.    

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE FOUR - MONITORING    
To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer satisfaction, 
government policy, legislation and good practice.   
  

2.3. These objectives are especially relevant in the current climate. The provision of 
proactive services to help households avoid homelessness altogether or minimise 
the detrimental effects, should homelessness be unavoidable, remain at the heart of 
what the Council aims to achieve for the residents of the Borough. 

2.4. The challenge going forward will be to continue the successful homeless prevention 
measures, especially for households dependent on welfare benefits who find it more 
difficult to afford private rents or access home ownership.  

2.5. Many of the services and initiatives provided by the Council can offer better value for 
money in terms of preventing homelessness compared to dealing with the aftermath of 
actual homelessness.  

 



 

 
6  

 

3. Local Context 
 

3.1. Homelessness Review 2017 
The review of homelessness, covering the period 2014-2017, produced key findings 
which mainly reflected national trends.  These are set out below:  

 

 Despite a long period where the number of homeless decisions and acceptances 
were generally decreasing, this trend shifted in 2014/2015, with twice as many 
applications and acceptances than the previous year.  This trend continued to 
2017/2018.  

 

 781 decisions on homelessness were made in this period.  Of these 498 
households were accepted under the main homelessness duty (they were eligible, 
unintentionally homeless and in priority need). 

 

 The primary priority need category for applicants accepted under the main 
homelessness duty continued to be because the applicant had dependent 
children, mainly in a lone parent household.  This was followed by the applicant 
being vulnerable because of mental illness and vulnerable because of a physical 
disability.  

 

 The majority of applicants accepted the main homelessness duty were from a 
white ethnic group and aged between 16 and 44 years old. 

 

 The main reason for homelessness was loss of tied or rented accommodation in 
the private rented sector, mainly because of the termination of an assured 
shorthold tenancy. This cause of homelessness increased significantly since the 
last review. Parents, relatives or friends no longer willing to accommodate was the 
second highest cause of homelessness followed by violent breakdown of a 
relationship. 

 

 A total of 189 homelessness preventions and relief took place outside of the 
statutory homeless framework.  

 

 The levels of homeless households placed into temporary accommodation was 
steadily increasing with more households in temporary accommodation at the end 
of quarter 4 in 2016/17 than previous quarters. This increase in the use of 
temporary accommodation was mainly due to the lack of suitable accommodation 
in the private rented sector.  

 

 Factors surrounding rising housing costs and the difficulty of procuring private 
rented accommodation, contributed to the numbers of homeless households in 
temporary accommodation. In addition, a lack of available private sector 
accommodation in the borough resulted in a growing proportion of homeless 
households being accommodated in another borough. 

 

3.2. A copy of the full 2017 Homelessness Review report is available to view on line at 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-
documents. 

 

 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


 

 
7  

 

3.3. Post implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 - from April 2018 

Data collected from April 2018 shows that there has been a significant increase in 
the numbers of households presenting as homeless; due mainly to the new duties  
described in 1.6.  In 2018/2019, up to December 2018, there were 456 new cases 
opened compared to 262 in 2017/2018.  Of these, 423 cases were owed a 
prevention and relief duty in 2018/2019 compared to 110 in 2017/2018.  Of these, 
30 Households were accepted as having a full homelessness duty in 2018/2019.  

 
Approaches for assistance under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 post 3 April 2018   

Month 
New cases 
opened 

Prevention 
duty accepted 

Relief duty 
accepted 

Not 
threatened 
with 
homelessness 
in 56 days - no 
duty owed 

Main duty to 
house 
accepted 

April - June 102 66 31 5 5 

Jul - Sept 194 119 58 17 6 

Oct - Dec 160 86 63 11 19 

Total 456 271 152 33 30 

 
3.4. The chart below shows the number of assessments made in 2018 compared to the 

same period in 2017. 
 

 
 

3.5. The main cause of homelessness is now parents or friends no longer willing to 
accommodate (25%) followed by the loss of an assured shorthold tenancy (21%).  
domestic abuse (11%), relationship breakdown (11%), end of a social rented tenancy 
(6%) and the end of other types of private tenancy (3%). ‘Other reasons’ or ‘no reason  
known’ account for the remaining causes. 

 
3.6. Approaches from April 2018 show the following key features: 

 59% of approaches were aged 25-44 

 39% were females with dependent children 

 5% were males with dependent children 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec

Assessments

Total number of households assessed 2018/19

Total number of households assessed 2017/18

Total households assessed as owed a duty 18/19

Total households assessed as owed a duty 17/18



 

 
8  

 38% were single adults 

 11% were couples with dependent children 

 55% of households had support needs including mental health problems 
and/or physical disability 

 2% were referred from other local authorities or agencies 
 

3.7. The main reason for a prevention duty ending is that households have secured 
accommodation for 6 months or more.  The reasons for a relief duty ending are more 
varied including households securing accommodation, 56 days has elapsed, contact 
has been lost or the application has been withdrawn.  65% of relief cases accepted were 
subsequently ended and 68% of prevention cases were also ended. 

 

4. Temporary Accommodation 
 

4.1. If a main homelessness duty is owed, a household may have to be placed into 
temporary accommodation (TA) before an offer of settled accommodation is made.  

4.2. The Council may also place applicants into TA under an interim duty to accommodate, 
(pending a decision as to whether a main homelessness duty is owed); if they have 
reason to believe the applicant may be homeless, eligible for assistance and in priority 
need. 

4.3. The definition of TA includes nightly paid accommodation (privately managed 
accommodation with shared facilities or self-contained accommodation), hostels, local 
authority/private registered provider stock, leased properties and other stock. 

4.4. The number of households placed in nightly paid accommodation steadily increased 
from 2014 the main reason being the lack of suitable move-on accommodation in the 
private rented sector but began to fall in quarter 1 of 2018/2019.  At the end of quarter 
4, 2018 there were 56 households placed in nightly paid accommodation, compared to 
108 in the same quarter in 2016/2017.   The majority of all TA placements are single 
parents with dependent children. 

4.5. The Council does not place homeless households into shared accommodation unless it 
is absolutely necessary.  

4.6. The length of time spent in TA largely depends on the availability of suitable 
accommodation in the borough, however, the aim is to minimise the length of time spent 
in TA, particularly for households with dependent children, pregnant women and 16/17 
year olds.  

 
 

5. Tacking Rough Sleeping  
 

5.1. The Government’s National Strategy for rough sleeping is committed to halve rough 
sleeping by 2022, and to end it for good by 2027. It has set aside £100m of funding and 
a three-pronged approach to ending rough sleeping through prevention, intervention, 
and recovery.  

 
5.2. It is also committed to a wider review of homelessness and rough sleeper legislation, 

which will include the Vagrancy Act. 
 



 

 
9  

5.3. In Dartford, there were an estimated 12 rough sleepers in 2018/2019 identified on a 
given night compared to 9 in in 2017/18 and 2016/2017, 10 in 2015/2016 and 19 in 
2014/2015. Although this is a reduction since 2014, there is still a slight increase from 
the last year and the Council will continue to work in partnership with other agencies in 
the borough to work towards the Government’s aim of eliminating rough sleeping by 
2027.  The Council has developed a number of initiatives to combat rough sleeping 
including:  

 

 Funding contribution to the Winter Shelter to ensure that enough support is in 
place for rough sleepers accessing the service 

 The Housing Solutions team provide a drop in for those using the shelter and 
work in partnership with the support staff to ensure occupants have effective 
move on plans 

 A commitment to ensuring there are no repeat names on the rough sleeper 
estimate by providing access to suitable affordable accommodation.   

 Providing a fast track referral mechanism for the Council’s outreach provider 
 

6. Homeless Prevention 
 

6.1. The Council tries where possible to prevent homelessness with the main prevention 
activity being assistance in the private rented sector.  Spend in this area includes deposits 
and rent in advance, loans and the Deposit Guarantee Scheme.  Spend in 2018/19 was 
£237,649. 
 

6.2. The Council developed an innovative Homeless Prevention Hub which is sited within the 
Council Offices.  This was set up in response to the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
implemented in April 2018.  The Hub is made up of a number of agencies to ensure that 
homelessness is prevented as far as possible by providing a joined up approach to each 
homeless situation.  The agencies that are included in the Hub are: 

 
 Department for Work and Pensions 
 Revenues & Benefits 
 Citizens Advice Bureau 
 Porchlight 
 Mental Health Support  
 Specialist Children’s Services & Early Help 
 Housing Solutions Team 
 One You 

 
6.3. A review of the hub was undertaken in June 2019 and a multi-agency meeting was 

held.  As a result the following agencies will be joining the hub: 
 

 Hospital Discharge Team 

 Kenward Trust  

 YMCA 

 LIFE Housing  
 
 
 



 

 
10  

7. Actions to date 
 

7.1. In 2017, the Council recognised that its approach to housing and homelessness would 
require specific, tailored actions to meet the requirements of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 and its ongoing work to prevent homelessness.  Since the last 
Homelessness Strategy was implemented in 2018 the Council has: 

 
 Implemented a triage system to enable homeless enquiries to be dealt with more effectively 

 

 Funded a crash pad for 16/17 year olds so a there can be a holistic response to their 
homelessness.  As a result no 16/17 year olds have been placed in bed and breakfast 
accommodation since 2011 
 

 Introduced a dedicated homeless service, in partnership with Porchlight, which enables 
single homeless persons, including rough sleepers to consider a wide range of housing 
options at a weekly drop in based at the council offices. 
 

 Reviewed and updated the council website to ensure that advice and information is 
available on housing and preventing homelessness, securing accommodation, the help 
that is available and on the rights of homeless persons 
 

 Produced information leaflets that can be sent to customers or downloaded from the 
website for specific client groups at risk of homelessness, in line with s179 of the HRA 
2017 
 

 Developed packs for customers that provide comprehensive information on their housing 
options including rental market data. 
 

 Developed a homelessness triage system that will manage the demand on the service 
and ensure that applications are proactively responded to that will maximise prevention 
opportunities 
 

 Implemented new IT systems to meet the requirements of the HRA 2017. 
 

 Reviewed all outgoing correspondence to ensure it met the requirements of the HRA 
2017 

 

 Developed a referral mechanism to ensure relevant partners and agencies can refer 
customers that may be at risk of homelessness 

 

 Secured 20 additional units for temporary accommodation for homeless households 
through proactive working with the YMCA 

 

 Carried out a review of the Housing Allocations’ Policy to ensure it complied with the 
HRA 2017 

 

 Facilitated regular meetings with Dartford Revenues & Benefits team to make use of the 
Discretionary Housing Payment pot.  Housing Benefit representatives now form part of 
the Hub. 

 

 Ensured that the pre-eviction protocols are being utilised by the Housing Management 
team and partner Housing Associations - this is ongoing 

 



 

 
11  

 Reduced the use of nightly paid accommodation by 40% 
 

 Developed an accessible internet based referrals module for partner organisations to 
refer homeless clients 

 

 Worked with the Winter Shelter in Dartford to maximise housing solutions for rough 
sleepers 

 

8. Resources and Costs 

8.1. At the end of 2018/2019 the cost of providing temporary accommodation was 
£1,375,385.47.  This cost has been steadily increasing year on year reflecting 
the rising costs of suitable temporary accommodation. 

8.2. A Homelessness Grant of £106,500 is received from central government each 
year. This Strategy will be resourced by using this grant in a more pro-active 
approach to deliver the initiatives proposed. 

8.3. The Council was allocated £139,239 of New Burdens Funding ahead of the 
implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 in April 2018.  This 
funding has now been spent implementing the provisions of the Act. 

8.4. In May 2019, Dartford Council was part of a bid for the Government’s Private 
rented Sector Access Fund along with 35 other local authorities and received 
£171k to assist clients secure housing in the private rented sector. 

8.5. The Council has also made use of other minor funding streams that have been 
made available wherever possible.  However, the cost of providing the service 
always outweighs income. 

9. Action Plan 

An updated Action Plan, is attached at Annex A.  The Plan also contains new actions 
that have been developed; to be implemented during 2019-2021.  

10.     Monitoring and Review 

10.1. The Council will again deliver this Strategy in partnership with a number of partner 
organisations including housing associations, Kent County Council, Shelter, the 
YMCA and Porchlight etc. 

10.2. Monitoring will take place quarterly by senior officers, in collaboration with partners, 
as part of the council-led Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
Implementation Group.  



 

12 
 

 

Annex A – Dartford Homeless and Rough Sleeper Strategy Action Plan 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ONE - PREVENTION & RELIEF 

To prevent and relieve homelessness and rough sleeping wherever possible in line with the requirements of the Homelessness Reduction 

Act 2017 and the Government's Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018 

No Task Target 

1a Work in partnership with the Winter Shelter to ensure that all rough sleepers’ accommodation 

needs are assessed. 

March 2020 and ongoing 

1b Utilise monies received from the Private Access Fund to implement around 200 insurance 

policies for landlords to enable improved access to the private rented sector.  

March 2020 

 

1c Fully implement the Shared Digital Workspace to improve information sharing with the 

members of the Hub.   
 

December 2019 

1d Review the roles and responsibilities of the Housing Solutions Team to ensure an effective 

service is provided to all those seeking assistance.  

March 2020 

1e Review the Dartford Private Sector Leasing Scheme.  
 

December 2019 

1f Work in partnership with KCC’s commissioned provider, Look Ahead, to implement a new 
support service for Dartford residents.   
 

Ongoing 

1g Explore future government funding opportunities to improve outcomes for homeless 
households in the borough.  
 
 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 



 

13 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE TWO - ACCOMMODATION 

 To provide a range of accommodation for homeless households, making innovative use of solutions in the private sector 

2a Convert 20 Dartford private leased properties to Assured Shorthold Tenancies  December 2020 

2b Develop a new Rent Guarantee Scheme to support low income households to access the 

private rented sector 

December 2019 

2c Develop and implement a Social Lettings Agency to increase the supply of temporary 

accommodation 

September 2020 

2d Recruit a Landlord Relationship Officer to secure additional accommodation in the private 

rented sector 

August 2019 

2e Develop a landlord package and options to support low-income households to access the 

private rented sector and encourage partnership working with private sector landlords. 

December 2019 

2f Ensure there is a regular agenda item at the  Landlord Forum to develop relationships with 

local landlords  

December 2019 (to be developed following the recruitment 

of a new Landlord Relationship Officer). 

2g Explore the extended use of Housing Association properties to discharge functions under 

homeless legislation 

On going 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE THREE -  PARTNERSHIP WORKING  

To work with local organisations to provide a coordinated approach to tackling and preventing homelessness  

3c Ensure that the pre-eviction protocols are being utilised by the Housing Management team 

and partner Housing Associations 
On going 

3d Look for more affordable and cost effective housing solutions to the use of temporary 

accommodation 
On going 

3e Lead on the steering group for the One Stop Shop for Domestic Abuse and ensure there are 

regular reviews 
On going 

3f Attend the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) to ensure high risk victims 

of domestic abuse are appropriately housed and supported  
Bi-weekly 



 

14 
 

3g Attend the North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum to ensure a joined up approach for victims of 

domestic abuse 
Bi-monthly 

3h Attend relevant Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) and MAPPA Housing 

Panel meetings to identify and minimise potential risks to the authority 
On going 

3i Review the Young Person's Team processes with Kent County Council and YMCA, including 

the use of the crash pad based at the YMCA. 
December 2019 

3j Participate in Joint Housing Panels (KCC and relevant providers) to enable access to 

supported accommodation in the district  
Monthly 

3k Develop an accessible Referrals Module on Locata and maximise participation from partner 

organisations to prevent homelessness 
January 2020 

3l Attend the Kent Housing Options Group (KHOG) and continue to look at opportunities for 

partnership working across Kent 
Quarterly 

3m Continue to work with the Winter Shelter in Dartford to look at housing solutions for rough 

sleepers in Dartford  

 

On going 

 

 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE FOUR - MONITORING  

To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer satisfaction, Government policy, legislation and good practice  

4a Keep up to date with government policy, legislative changes and good practice in the area of 

homelessness and disseminate this to partners 

On going 

4b Use new Homelessness Case Level Information Classification (H-CLIC) data to monitor and 

analyse homeless trends in the district. (new system to replace Government P1E statistical 

returns)  

Quarterly 

4d Monitor out of London placements and participate in meetings with London Boroughs, KCC 

and other relevant organisations to discuss any ongoing issues 

On going 

4e Annually evaluate the extent of rough sleeping in Dartford by carrying out a rough sleeper 

estimate  

Annually 



 

15 
 

4f Collect satisfaction feedback from service users  Annually 

4g Carry out a mystery shopping exercise on the homelessness service January 2020 

 




	Agenda
	5 Strategic Housing Board Terms of Reference
	7 Draft Housing Allocations Policy  - July 2019
	Appendix A Allocations Policy update June 2019 final

	8 Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-2023
	Appendix A Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy final


